IN THE IOWA SUPREME COURT

**SUPREME COURT NO.
21-1092**

DES MOINES CIVIL AND HUMAN RIGHTS COMMISSION,
Plaintiff-Appellee

v.

PATRICK KNUEVEN and MARY KNUEVEN,
Defendants-Appellants.

**APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT FOR POLK COUNTY
THE HONORABLE SARAH CRANE**

APPELLANTS' BRIEF

**JOHN F. FATINO
NICHOLAS J. GRAL
WHITFIELD & EDDY, P.L.C.**

699 Walnut, Suite 2000

Des Moines, Iowa 50309

Telephone: (515) 288-6041

Fax: (515) 246-1474

Email: fatino@whitfieldlaw.com

gral@whitfieldlaw.com

**ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS-APPELLANTS,
PATRICK KNUEVEN and MARY KNUEVEN**

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED WHEN IT FAILED TO GRANT A JUDGMENT NOTWITHSTANDING THE VERDICT AS THE COMMISSION FAILED TO PROVE “STEERING.”

Cases:

Cabrera v. Jakobovitz, 24 F.3d 372 (2nd Cir. 1994)

City of Chicago v. Matchmaker Real Estate Sales Ctr., Inc., 982 F.2d 1086, 1095 (7th Cir. 1992)

Doe v. Cent. Iowa Health Sys., 766 N.W.2d 787 (Iowa 2009)

Fair Hous. Justice Ctr., Inc. v. Broadway Crescent Realty, Inc., No. 10 Civ. 34(CM), 2011 WL 856095, at *6 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 9, 2011)

Fair Hous. Cong. v. Weber, 993 F. Supp. 1286 (C.D. Cal. 1997)

Garr v. City of Ottumwa, 846 N.W.2d 865 (Iowa 2014)

Havens Realty Corp. v. Coleman, 455 U.S. 363, 379 (1982)

Lee v. State, 815 N.W.2d 731 (Iowa 2012)

Royal Indem. Co. v. Factory Mut. Ins. Co., 786 N.W.2d 839 (Iowa 2010)

Village of Bellwood v. Dwivedi, et al, 895 F.2d 1521 (7th Cir. 1990)

Rules/Statutes:

42 U.S.C.A. §§ 3604(a), (b) (2021)

Iowa Code §§ 216.8(1)(a), (b) (2021)

Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.1003(1), (2) (2021)

Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.1104(6), (8), (9) (2021)

Other Authorities:

City of Des Moines Municipal Code §§ 62-101(a)(1), (4), (8), (10) (2021)

II. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED WHEN IT FAILED TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON THE ELEMENTS REQUIRED TO ESTABLISH A LEGAL CLAIM OF “STEERING.”

Cases:

Cabrera v. Jakobovitz, 24 F.3d 372 (2nd Cir. 1994)

Fair Hous. Cong. v. Weber, 993 F. Supp. 1286 (C.D. Cal. 1997)

Fair Hous. Justice Ctr., Inc. v. Broadway Crescent Realty, Inc., No. 10 Civ. 34(CM), 2011 WL 856095, at *6 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 9, 2011)

Haskenhoff v. Homeland Energy Solutions, LLC, 897 N.W.2d 553 (Iowa 2017)

Shinn v. Iowa Mut. Ins. Co., 610 N.W.2d 538 (Iowa Ct. App. 2000)

Thavenet v. Davis, 589 N.W.2d 233 (Iowa 1999)

Village of Bellwood v. Dwivedi, et al., 895 F.2d 1528 (7th Cir. 1990)

Rules/Statutes:

Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.1104(8) (2021)

Other Authorities:

City of Des Moines Municipal Code §§ 62-101(a)(1), (10) (2021)

III. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED WHEN IT ALLOWED THE COMMISSION TO OFFER UNDULY PREJUDICIAL PRIOR BAD ACTS EVIDENCE THAT DID NOT CONCERN THE CHARGES IN QUESTION.

Cases:

Mohasco Corp. v. Silver, 447 U.S. 807 (1980)

Nat'l R.R. Passenger Corp. v. Morgan, 536 U.S. 101 (2002)

Pexa v. Auto Owners Ins. Co., 686 N.W.2d 150 (Iowa 2004)

State v. Newell, 710 N.W.2d 6 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Taylor, 689 N.W.2d 116 (Iowa 2004)

Rules/Statutes:

Iowa R. Evid. 5.403 (2021)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.404 (2021)

Other Authorities:

City of Des Moines Municipal Code § 52-101(a) (2021)

City of Des Moines Municipal Code § 62-2(b) (2021)

Laurie Kratky Dore, *Evidence of Other Crimes, Wrongs or Acts*, 7 Ia. Prac.,
Evidence § 5.404:6 (2020)

**IV. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENIED THE
DEFENDANT THE OPPORTUNITY TO PRESENT EVIDENCE OF
DEFENDANT'S GOOD CHARACTER.**

Cases:

City of Des Moines v. Ogden, 909 N.W.2d 417 (Iowa 2018)

Koonts v. Farmers Mut. Ins. Ass'n of Ven Buren Cty., 16 N.W.2d 20 (Iowa
1944)

Pexa v. Auto Owners Ins. Co., 686 N.W.2d 150 (Iowa 2004)

State v. Crisman, 57 N.W.2d 207 (Iowa 1953)

State v. Osborn, 200 N.W.2d 798 (Iowa 1972)

United States v. Bledsoe, 531 F.2d 888, 892 (8th Cir. 1976)

United States v. Parker, 491 F.2d 517 (8th Cir. 1973)

Rules/Statutes:

Iowa R. Evid. 5.404(b)(2) (2021)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.405 (2021)

V. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED WHEN IT ALLOWED FOR IMPEACHMENT OF THE DEFENDANT WITH COLLATERAL TESTIMONY IN AN UNRELATED MATTER.

Cases:

City of Des Moines v. Ogden, 909 N.W.2d 417 (Iowa 2018)

Pexa v. Auto Owners Ins. Co., 686 N.W.2d 150 (Iowa 2004)

State v. Hill, 243 N.W.2d 567 (Iowa 1976)

Other Authorities:

Black's Law Dictionary, Collateral, 317 (Bryan A. Garner ed., 10th ed. 2014)

VI. TO THE EXTENT THIS COURT OVERTURNS THE DISTRICT COURT'S RULING IN APPELLANTS' FAVOR, THE COMMISSION WILL NO LONGER BE DEEMED A "PREVAILING PARTY" ENTITLED TO ATTORNEY FEES.

Cases:

Burns v. Bd. of Nursing, 495 N.W.2d 698 (Iowa 1993)

Doc Magic, Inc. v. Mortgage Partnership of American, L.L.C., 729 F.3d 808 (8th Cir. 2013)

Lee v. State, 906 N.W.2d 186 (Iowa 2018)

NCJC, Inc. v. WMG, L.C., 960 N.W.2d 58 (Iowa 2021)

Other Authorities:

Black's Law Dictionary (11th ed. 2019)

City of Des Moines Municipal Code § 62-107(m) (2021)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court because this case involves substantial issues of first impression and impacts the rights of both landlords and prospective tenants subject to one or more protected classes. Also, the case requires this Court's enunciation of an important legal principle ("steering") and its interplay with local (City of Des Moines Municipal Code Chapter 62 – Human Rights) and state statutes (Iowa Code Chapter 216 – Iowa Civil Rights Act). Consequently, the case should be retained by the Court. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(c), (d), (f).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

Defendant Patrick Knueven ("Patrick") and his spouse, Mary Knueven ("Mary"), own multiple residential properties in Des Moines for which Patrick serves as landlord and rents the properties to tenants. In the underlying litigation, Plaintiff Des Moines Civil and Human Rights Commission ("the Commission") alleged that Patrick and Mary engaged in intentional housing discrimination in 2017. The Commission alleged that the Knuevens did this in two ways. First, by charging higher rent because of a potential tenant(s)' religion or national origin. Second, by the "steering" of buyers to other

properties. Notably, the present appeal does not concern the merits of the Commission’s first allegation (a claim on which the Knuevens prevailed), but instead focuses on whether Patrick engaged in unlawful “steering.”¹

Patrick appeals the District Court’s denial of his judgment notwithstanding the verdict as the Commission failed to prove the legal principle of “steering” during its case-in-chief. Second, Patrick appeals the determination of the District Court not to instruct the jury on the requisite elements of “steering,” as requested. Patrick also appeals the District Court’s admission of prior bad acts evidence that did not concern the charges in question, and resulted in undue prejudice. In the same vein, Patrick appeals the District Court’s refusal to permit evidence of Patrick’s good character. Lastly, Patrick appeals the determination of the District Court to permit impeachment of Patrick with collateral testimony in an unrelated matter. Each of the foregoing issues are included within Knueven’s timely Notice of Appeal.

¹ Following jury trial, the Knuevens were found not guilty of the first alleged offense. *See* May 20, 2021 Verdict Form (“Verdict Form”) (App. pp. 111-113). Likewise, the jury found that Mary did not engage in “steering,” but found that Patrick had engaged in “steering.” *See Id.*

B. Course of Proceedings

Litigation in this case did not begin until June 2019. At that time, the Commission filed its Petition and Request for Injunctive Relief (the “Petition”) against the Knuevens. Petition (App. pp. 6-13). The Petition contained two counts against the Knuevens, including (1) discrimination by charging higher rent based on religion and national origin; and (2) discrimination by steering away from available housing. *Id.* (App. pp. 6-13). In their August 2, 2019 Answer, Affirmative Defenses, and Jury Demand (the “Answer”), the Knuevens denied any alleged wrongdoing or liability. Answer (App. p. 14-24).

On May 17, 2021, this matter proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable Judge Sarah E. Crane. On May 20, 2021, the case was submitted to the jury for deliberation and a verdict returned later that day. Verdict Form (App. pp. 111-113).

The jury found Mary not guilty on both counts. *Id.* (App. pp. 111-113). The jury found Patrick not guilty as to Count I (the higher rent allegation), but did find guilt on Count II pertaining to “steering.” *Id.* (App. pp. 111-113). The jury imposed a civil penalty against Patrick in the amount of \$50,000.00. *Id.* at Question No. 4 (App. pp. 111-112).

On May 28, 2021, Judge Crane entered that certain Order for Judgment, which enforced the jury’s May 20, 2021 verdict (“Order for Judgment”). Order for Judgment (App. p. 114-115). On June 1, 2021, Patrick timely filed his combined Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict and Motion for New Trial (the “Combined Motion”). Combined Motion (App. pp. 116-122). On June 16, 2021, hearing was conducted on these matters. Ultimately, the District Court denied Patrick’s motions in its July 12, 2021 Order. Order Denying Motion for New Trial and Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict (App. pp. 124-129).

On August 10, 2021, the Knuevens timely filed their Notice of Appeal. Defendants’ Notice of Appeal (App. p. 130-132).²

² Defendants specified in their Notice of Appeal that Mary was named as an appellant because she had a separate claim for attorney fees pending. Defendants’ Notice of Appeal fn. 1 (App. p. 130). Furthermore, the Knuevens intended to consolidate their appeals upon the Court’s ruling. *Id.* (App. p. 130). On October 1, 2021, the Knuevens did so, and consolidation was granted by the Court on November 1, 2021. *See* October 1, 2021 Motion to Consolidate Appeals and Waive Filing Fee (App. pp. 141-143); *see* also November 1, 2021 Order re: Consolidation (App. pp. 144-146). Mary remains a party because of the lingering attorney fee issue. *See* Section IV. The Knuevens filed their Second Notice of Appeal to preserve jurisdiction over same. *See* Defendants’ (Second) Notice of Appeal (App. pp. 138-140).

On September 9, 2021, the Court entered its Order Denying Motion for Injunctive Relief and Awarding Attorney Fees (“Order re: Fees”). Order re: Fees (App. p. 133-137). It not only denied the Commission’s request for an injunctive relief, but also awarded attorney fees in the following amounts: (1) \$9,472.91 to the Commission; and (2) \$13,631.20 to Mary Knueven. *Id.* at p. 4 (App. p. 136); *see also* City of Des Moines Municipal Code § 62-107(m) (2021) (entitling a “prevailing party” to attorney’s fees). On September 28, 2021, the Knuevens filed their second Notice of Appeal (“Second Notice of Appeal”). Second Notice of Appeal (App. pp. 138-140).

On October 1, 2021, the Knuevens moved to consolidate their appeals, pursuant to Iowa Rule of Appellate Procedure 6.103(2). Motion to Consolidate Appeals and Waive Filing Fee (App. pp. 141-143); *see also* Iowa R. App. P. 6.103(2) (2021). On November 1, 2021, the Court entered its Order, consolidating the Knuevens’ appeals and adopting a single briefing schedule. Order re: Motion to Consolidate (App. pp. 144-146); *see also* Notice of Briefing Deadline.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The actual events which caused the Commission to bring this case occurred in 2017. Those facts will be demonstrated below. However, in an

effort to bolster its weak case, the Commission introduced prior acts of evidence (over Patrick’s objection) from a former, stale investigation in 2015 and 2016. The testimony will be summarized below, as well.

2017 Investigation

In August 2017, the Commission attempted to jumpstart an investigation of the Knuevens’ housing practices. Commission Trial Exhibit 3—Recording, Laurie call to Pat (App. p. 57); Trial Transcript (Vol. II), pp. 53 (13-25) – 54 (1-3); Petition, ¶ 17 (App. p. 8). Over the Knuevens’ objection, the jury heard audio recording of an August 7, 2017 telephone call between Patrick and a control (i.e., white) “tester” who claimed to be calling on behalf of the Omaha Refugee Resettlement Program. Commission Trial Exhibit 3—Recording, Laurie call to Pat (App. p. 57); Trial Transcript (Vol. II), pp. 53 (13-25) – 54 (1-3). Patrick responded by asking, “Aright, what do you got?” Commission Trial Exhibit 3—Recording, Laurie call to Pat (App. p. 57); Petition, ¶ 24 (App. p. 9). The tester inquired about one of the Knuevens’ properties, purportedly on behalf of a Muslim couple from Pakistan. Commission Trial Exhibit 3 (App. p.57). Patrick informed the tester that the property was still available. *Id.* (App. p. 57) .

The jury also heard (over the Kuevens' objection) an audio recording of Patrick's August 10, 2017 conversation with a control tester, Carla Cox, who called Patrick and inquired into the availability of a duplex. Commission Trial Exhibit 7—Recording, Carla call to Pat Knueven (App. p. 59); Testimony of Carla Cox ("Cox Testimony"), Trial Transcript (Vol. II), p. 50 (10).

It was later admitted that there was no family being assisted by the Omaha Refugee Resettlement Program; therefore, no family was actually denied housing as a result of their interactions with Patrick. *Id.* at p. 58 (19-24). Furthermore, Cox neither applied nor was denied the opportunity to rent the duplex that she discussed with Patrick on August 10, 2017. *Id.* at p. 59 (6-11); *see also* Knueven Testimony, Trial Transcript (Vol. III), p. 78 (15-20) (neither Cox nor the Omaha Refugee Resettlement Program ever subsequently contacted Knueven to apply for an apartment or regarding the placement of refugees in Knueven's property).

Nevertheless, a formal investigation by the Commission followed, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 3610 (Federal Fair Housing Act) and City of Des Moines Municipal Code Chapter 62 (Human Rights). *Id.* at ¶ 10. On May 21, 2019, the Commission's investigation completed and the Commission

filed its notice of probable cause determination. Testimony of Joshua Barr (“Barr Testimony), Trial Transcript (Vol. II), p. 22 (15-19); Petition, ¶ 11. To no surprise, the Commission determined that the allegations made in its complaint were founded. Barr Testimony, Trial Transcript (Vol. II), p. 22 (15-19); Petition, ¶ 12 (App. p.8). Thereafter, the underlying litigation commenced. Barr Testimony, Trial Transcript (Vol. II), p. 22 (15-19).

2015 and 2016 Investigation

Based upon the admittedly weak evidence from 2017, over Patrick’s objection, the District Court allowed evidence from prior tests collected during the Commission’s original, 2015/2016 investigation.³ The record will reflect the following efforts by the Commission to investigate the Knuevens.

³ Prior to the presentation of evidence to the jury, the trial court ruled that evidence of the Commission’s 2015/2016 investigation (including testimony from its testers) was admissible, despite such evidence falling outside the period prescribed by City of Des Moines Municipal Code section 62-2(b). Trial Testimony (Vol. II), p. 5 (4-22); *see also* City of Des Moines Municipal Code § 62-2(b) (2021). The trial court held that such evidence was admissible and relevant to Patrick’s motive or intent to discriminate. Trial Transcript (Vol. II), p. 5 (4-22); *see also* Commission’s Supplemental Resistance to Defendants’ Motion in Limine (“Supplemental Resistance”), ¶ 4, p. 2 (App. p. 67) (arguing that evidence of discriminatory motive “demonstrates the consistent pattern that when Mr. Knueven believes he is dealing with someone of a protected religion or national origin, he is uncooperative and reticent to provide information”). Thereafter, trial testimony commenced.

Between December 2015 to late January 2016, the Commission utilized various “testers” who posed as potential renters and either called the Knuevens or performed site visits at the Knuevens’ properties. Petition, ¶¶ 31-32 (App. pp. 10-12); Barr Testimony, Trial Transcript (Vol. II), pp. 21 (23-25) – 22 (1, 10-14). Testers recorded their interactions with the Knuevens both in person and via telephone. Barr Testimony, Trial Transcript (Vol. II), p. 22 (10-14). Furthermore, the testers also documented their encounters in detailed written reports, which were prepared by the testers at or near the time of their investigation. *See, e.g.*, Testimony of Nadia Igram (“Igram Testimony”), Trial Transcript (Vol. II), pp. 84 (19-25) – 85 (16-18).⁴

Over the course of this roughly five-week investigation, four testers were used. Igram Testimony, Trial Transcript (Vol. II), p. 63 (9-11); Testimony of Chris Fultz (“Fultz Testimony”), Trial Transcript (Vol. II), p. 92 (17-20); Testimony of Jody Mashek (“Mashek Testimony”), Trial Transcript (Vol. II), p. 115 (4-9, 12-13); Testimony of Deeq Abdi (“Abdi Testimony”), Trial Transcript (Vol. III), p. 3 (23-25). During that time, a combination of phone calls and property visits were performed by control

⁴ The Knuevens note that all tester reports were excluded at trial as hearsay. Trial Transcript (Vol. II), p. 73 (10-18).

testers and testers subject to one or more protected classes (i.e., religion and national origin). *See, e.g.*, Commission Trial Exhibits 12, 22 (App. pp. 60, 62); *See also* Fultz Testimony, Trial Transcript (Vol. II), pp. 92 (17-20), 99 (6-10). Pursuant to the District Court’s ruling, the jury heard testimony and evidence from each of the Commission’s four testers used during its 2015/2016 investigation, beginning with Nadia Igram. Igram Testimony, Trial Transcript (Vol. II), p. 63.⁵

I. Nadia Igram

The jury was told that, on January 28, 2016, Igram contacted Patrick by phone, during which time she inquired into one of the Knuevens’ properties. *Id.* at pp. 64 (17-21) – 65 (16). Over the Knuevens’ objection, a recording of same was admitted into evidence and played for the jury. *Id.* at p. 65 (11-13, 17-25); Commission Trial Exhibit 20—Recording, Nadia Igram, call to Pat Knueven (App. p. 61). Igram described the initial conversation as “pleasant,” and that Patrick seemed interested, forthcoming and polite. Igram Testimony, Trial Transcript (Vol. II), p. 67 (3-8). Notably, there was no discussion during

⁵ Igram identifies as an Arab, Muslim woman. Igram Testimony, Trial Transcript (Vol. II), p. 82 (19-25).

the initial call regarding religion and national origin. *Id.* at pp. 83 (23-25) – 84 (3-4).

Again, over the Knuevens’ objection, the District Court admitted a recording of Igram’s subsequent, January 29, 2016 site visit, which was then played for the jury. *Id.* at p. 68 (3-9); Commission Trial Exhibit 22—Recording, Nadia Igram, visit to 2907 S.E. 10th (App. p. 62). Thereafter, Igram testified to several observations regarding her site visit with Patrick. These included Patrick (1) not “really say[ing] hi;” (2) not shaking Igram’s hand; (3) seeming “a little disappointed that [Igram] came without [her] husband;” (4) not taking off his shoes while asking Igram to do so; (5) allegedly avoiding Igram by being in separate rooms of the property; (6) supposedly muttering expletives under his breath; and (7) providing short answers to questions. Igram Testimony, Trial Transcript (Vol. II), pp. 69 (16, 18-19) – 70 (1-2, 12-13), 80 (13-17) – 81 (16), 86 (14-15). Igram also made it known to the jury that she was wearing a Hijab during her site visit, yet admitted that no discussion took place during the site visit regarding Igram’s race or national origin. *Id.* at pp. 69 (5-7), 87 (4-9).

On cross-examination, Igram further admitted that Patrick discussed the property’s lease terms with her, as well as answered questions regarding

utilities, lawn care and snow removal, maintenance, the surrounding neighborhood and local schools. *Id.* at pp. 87 (22-25) – 88. Notably, Igram admitted that she and her family were not actually looking to move into the Knuevens’ property. *Id.* at p. 79 (7-8). Igram agreed that she never completed an application to rent or attempted to buy the Knuevens’ property. *Id.* at p. 91 (8-19).

II. Chris Fultz

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