IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF IOWA
NO. 21-1092

**DES MOINES CIVIL AND HUMAN RIGHTS
COMMISSION,**
Plaintiff-Appellee,

v.

PATRICK KNUEVEN and MARY KNUEVEN,
Defendants-Appellants.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR POLK COUNTY,
HONORABLE SARAH CRANE

APPELLEE'S FINAL BRIEF

Luke DeSmet
Assistant City Attorney
Michelle Mackel-Wiederanders
Assistant City Attorney
400 Robert D. Ray Drive
Des Moines, IA 50309-1891
Telephone: (515) 283-4110
Facsimile: (515) 237-1748
E-Mail: Lmdesmet@dmgov.org
MRMackel@dmgov.org
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE
DES MOINES CIVIL AND HUMAN RIGHTS COMMISSION

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

4. ARGUMENT

At trial, the jury was properly instructed on what housing discrimination through steering is and correctly determined that Mr. Knueven had engaged in that illegal practice in 2017. On the basis of national origin or religion, Mr. Knueven discouraged individuals he disfavored from renting with him while strongly encouraging people he perceived to be the same as himself. The court followed existing precedent on discriminatory steering that recognizes that any action to encourage or discourage because of a protected characteristic is illegal and discriminatory. This broad interpretation of steering is appropriate given that both the Iowa Civil Rights Act and the federal Fair Housing Act are to be construed broadly to eliminate discriminate and making housing opportunities equal for all. *See Pippen v. State*, 854 N.W.2d 1, 28 (Iowa 2014); *Samaritan Inns, Inc. v. Dist. of Columbia*, 114 F.3d 1227, 1234 (D.C. Cir. 1997); *Cnty. Hous. Trust v. Dep't of Consumer and Regulatory Affairs*, 257 F. Supp. 2d 208, 220-21 (D. D.C. 2003).

Also consistent with precedent, the court gave the jury the opportunity to hear evidence of Mr. Knueven's motives both from

the 2017 events that warranted liability and from earlier events which showed him acting in the same way to discourage individuals who demonstrated protected characteristics. The court did not err in its rulings, the case was properly submitted to the jury, and this Court should affirm the jury's verdict holding Mr. Knueven liable for housing discrimination.

4.1. Court adopted the proper legal standard for steering claims.

4.1.1. Issue Preservation

The Commission agrees that Mr. Knueven has preserved this issue.

4.1.2. Standard of Review

The Commission agrees that review of the appropriate legal standards and the appropriateness of jury instructions are both reviewed for correction of errors of law.

4.1.3. Argument

The district court applied the correct legal standard for the Commission's steering claim and properly instructed the jury on what steering is. Laws at the local, state, and federal levels prohibit discrimination in housing on the basis of protected characteristics such as national origin and religion. At the state level, housing discrimination is prohibited by the Iowa Civil Rights Act. Iowa Code § 216.8. The City of Des Moines is also required by the Iowa Civil Rights Act to maintain an independent civil rights commission, and it has adopted ordinances to do so. Iowa Code § 216.19(2) (2021); Des Moines Municipal Code §§ 62-3, 62-4, 62-101 thru 62-107.

4.1.3.1. Discriminatory housing steering includes any act to discourage one group while encouraging another.

The Iowa Civil Rights Act prohibits a variety of forms of housing discrimination including providing:

It shall be an unfair or discriminatory practice for any person, owner, ..., of rights to housing or real property, ...:

- a. To refuse to sell, rent, lease, assign, sublease, refuse to negotiate, or to otherwise make unavailable, or deny any real property or housing accommodation or part, portion, or interest therein, to any person because of

the ... religion, national origin, disability, or familial status of such person.

Iowa Code § 216.8(1)(a). The Des Moines Municipal Code contains a substantially similar provision:

It shall be an illegal discriminatory housing practice for any person, or for any owner or person acting for an owner of rights to a dwelling, ... to:

(1) Refuse to sell, lease or rent after making of a bona fide offer; refuse to show or represent that a dwelling is unavailable; or refuse to negotiate for the sale, lease or rental of any dwelling or refuse to sublease or assign or otherwise make unavailable or deny a dwelling to any person because of race, religion, ... national origin, ... or source of income.

Des Moines Municipal Code § 62-101(a). Both provisions are substantially the same as the federal Fair Housing Act which also make it a discriminatory act to “otherwise make unavailable or deny, a dwelling to any person” on the basis of a protected characteristic. 42 U.S.C.A. § 3604(a).

Because the ICRA and the Des Moines ordinances are modeled after federal civil rights legislation, Iowa courts have traditionally looked to federal law for guidance in interpreting it. *See Pippen*, 854 N.W.2d at 18; *Pecenka v. Fareway Stores, Inc.*, 672 N.W.2d 800, 803 (Iowa 2003); *Deboom v. Raining Rose, Inc.*, 772 N.W.2d 1, 7 (Iowa 2009). Federal court decisions interpreting

the Fair Housing Act are persuasive, but not necessarily controlling, when interpreting the housing provisions of the ICRA. *See Pippen* at 18; *Renda v. Iowa Civil Rights Comm'n*, 784 N.W.2d 8, 15-16 (Iowa 2010).

One form of housing discrimination is steering individuals away from certain housing. Illegal steering consists of discouraging housing seekers from the housing they desire. Steering is a form of otherwise making housing unavailable in violation of 42 U.S.C.A. § 3604(a). *Village of Bellwood v. Dwivedi*, 895 F.2d 1521, 1529 (7th Cir. 1990); *Harris v. Vanderburg*; No. 4:19-CV-111-D, 2022 WL 421132, at *6 (E.D.N.C. Feb.10, 2022); *Fair Hous. Cong. v. Weber*, 993 F. Supp. 1286, 1293 (C.D. Cal. 1997). As steering is recognized as a discriminatory form of making housing unavailable under the Fair Housing Act, it stands to reason that it would be a discriminatory form of making housing unavailable under Iowa Code section 216.8(1)(a) and Municipal Code section 62-101(a).² While those sections do not use

² It is also reasonable given the fact that the Civil and Human Rights Commission has a contract with the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development to investigate

the word steering, they incorporate the same standards for illegal steering as established by the federal Fair Housing Act.

Traditionally, racial steering caselaw referred to the practice of directing white home-seekers to one neighborhood and minority home-seekers to another. However, the legal concept of steering is broader than this and involves any action to discourage prospective tenants from the housing they desire because of their protected status. The elements of a less desirable housing steering claim include:

1. The complainant is a member of a protected class.
2. The complainant sought to buy or rent housing from the respondent.
3. The respondent discouraged the complainant from pursuing the housing.
4. The respondent encouraged someone not of the complainant's protected class to pursue such housing.

Elements of Proof Memorandum, U.S. Dept. of Housing and

Urban Dev. (“HUD”), p.8.³

housing discrimination applying HUD standards. (Trial Tr. 5-18-21 p.29:22-30:16.)

³ Available online at: <https://www.hud.gov/sites/dfiles/FHEO/images/AJElementsofproofmemocorrected.pdf>

Courts have found a variety of actions to constitute steering if done on a discriminatory basis. Misrepresentations about housing availability and refusal to provide information can be illegal steering. *Village of Bellwood*, 895 F.2d at 1529. In one case, a court found that the agent’s willingness to call a superintendent for white testers but declining to do so for minority testers generated a fact issue on steering. *Fair Hous. Just. Ctr., Inc. v. Broadway Crescent Realty, Inc.*, No. 10 CIV. 34 CM, 2011 WL 856095, at *7 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 9, 2011). Volunteering information or failing to do so was also considered in the steering analysis. *Id.* In another case, a court found that jurors could conclude from the record that the defendant had engaged in housing discrimination by being helpful and encouraging to some testers while being “abrupt, inattentive, and actually discouraging of any prospect that a person of color could” find housing at that location. *Walker v. Todd Village, LLC*, 419 F. Supp. 2d 743, 747-48 (D. Md. 2006). In another case, discouraging prospective tenants with children from renting second floor units based on safety was a form of illegal steering on the basis of family status. *Fair Hous. Cong.*, 993

F. Supp. at 1293-94. As far back as 2012, a HUD study analyzed the helpfulness of agents in showing rental properties as a factor in analyzing steering. Housing Discrimination Against Racial and Ethnic Minorities 2012, U.S. Dept. of Housing and Urban Dev., p.10 (June 2013).⁴

These cases and the study demonstrate that illegal steering in housing is much broader than the traditional neighborhood by neighborhood steering originally addressed in caselaw. In this context, Mr. Knueven's action of volunteering additional information to a control tester while withholding any additional information not specifically requested from the protected tester constitutes illegal steering. Also, his hostile demeanor when speaking to protected testers, as compared to his encouraging tone and commentary with control testers is further evidence of illegal steering. Mr. Knueven was doing something more sinister than offering protected testers *less desirable* housing; he was creating barriers to *any* of his housing through his negative actions toward

⁴ Available online at: https://www.huduser.gov/portal/publications/pdf/hud-514_hds2012.pdf

protected individuals. For all the above reasons, this Court should find standard for steering claims the trial court adopted was proper.

4.1.3.2. The court properly instructed the jury on the legal standard for steering.

Jury instructions must convey the applicable law in such a way that the jury has a clear understanding of the issues it must decide. *State v. Davis*, 951 N.W.2d 8, 17 (Iowa 2020). Jury instructions are not considered separately; they should be considered as a whole. *Id.* Reversal is only warranted on appeal if the jury instructions have misled the jury. *Deboom*, 772 N.W.2d at 5.

At trial, the jury was properly instructed on the legal standard for steering. On the Commission's steering claim, the Court instructed the jury as follows in instruction 13:

To support its claim of housing discrimination in Count II against Patrick Knueven, the Plaintiff Des Moines Civil and Human Rights Commission must prove:

1. In August 2017, a tester (hereinafter referred to as the protected tester) is a member of a protected class based upon religion or national origin.
2. The protected tester sought to rent housing from the defendant Patrick Knueven.

3. The defendant Patrick Knueven engaged in steering by discouraging the protected tester from pursuing the housing and encouraging someone not of the protected class to pursue such housing.

4. The tester's religion or national origin was a motivating factor in defendant Patrick Knueven's steering.

If any of the above elements has not been proved, your verdict must be for the defendant Patrick Knueven. If the Commission has proven all of these elements, your verdict must be for the Commission on the issue of liability.

(Jury Instruction #13 App. 100.) This instruction properly explained that steering required treatment of protected testers differently than control testers. The instruction explained that Mr. Knueven had to do something to engage in steering. The instruction explained that steering consisted of encouraging one group while discouraging another group. The instruction also indicated that the protected characteristic needed to be a motivation for the different conduct.

All of these points of law are consistent with the caselaw for steering that makes housing otherwise unavailable. The *Fair Housing Justice Center* and *Todd Village* cases both demonstrate that treating different classes of people differently to encourage or discourage them from housing constitutes steering that makes

housing otherwise unavailable. Both Iowa Code section 216.8(1)(a) and Municipal Code section 62-101(a) prohibit actions to make housing unavailable, and the federal case law interpreting the counterpart section of the Fair Housing Act indicates that steering through discouragement is a violation of these sections.

4.1.3.3. Mr. Knueven's proposed jury instructions did not accurately state the law.

The court correctly refused to give Mr. Knueven's proposed jury instructions on steering because they did not accurately state the law. Mr. Knueven submitted two proposed jury instructions related to steering. The first, filed on May 3, 2021 incorrectly stated the law because it required jurors to find that Mr. Knueven "took some steps to show or guide the tester to an alternative property according to their race, national origin, gender or religion" before they could find him liable for discriminatory steering. (D's Proposed Stmt. of the Case, Jury Instructions, and Verdict Form App. 46.) The proposed instruction narrowed the legal standard for steering beyond what case law provides appropriate. Mr. Knueven's proposed instruction would have required the jury to rule that misrepresentations, refusal to

provide information, unwillingness to call a superintendent, or refusing to volunteer information to some potential tenants did not constitute steering and was inconsistent with prior case law. Regardless of whether there was Iowa case law on point, the court fashioned the jury instructions to comport with available case law rather than in contradiction to it. Because the proposed instruction was not a correct statement of the law, the court was correct to decline it.

Mr. Knueven's recast jury instruction on steering was a similarly incorrect statement of the law. On May 19, 2021, Mr. Knueven submitted a recast jury instruction regarding steering, but it too required the jury to find that Mr. Knueven "presented undesirable conditions of a property offered by the Defendants with the intent to steer or channel a prospective buyer into or away from an area" to find discrimination occurred. (D's Recast Jury Instructions App. 75.) This again was an incorrectly narrow instruction on what actions could constitute steering. As such, the court was again correct to reject it.

Any steering instruction that instructed the jury to only find steering if direction away from one property or to a different property or to only target home buyers would be an incorrect statement of the steering law that has developed. Perhaps in the 1950s and '60s, an instruction about directing to or away from specific properties was sufficient when property owners were that brazen. As time has gone on, actions taken to effectuate discrimination have become less obvious, and the legal standards for discriminatory steering have evolved to address the less obvious steering actions that may occur today. Limiting steering to Mr. Knueven's proposed instructions would provide property owners the ability to subtly keep out protected classes they are biased against so long as they don't make the obvious blunder of directing someone to another of their properties based on a goal of racial segregation. Iowa should not allow any actions that make housing unavailable to one protected group or another, just because they are crafted to avoid overt statements of discriminatory intent.

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